I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioners Amanda Pitts and Paul Pitts, individually, and Amanda

Pitts as Personal Representative of the Estates of Taylor Pitts (hereinafter

"petitioners"), asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeal's

decisions designated in Part "11" of this petition.

II. COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION

A copy of the Division III Court of Appeals Published Opinion filed

May 4, 2017, is attached in the Appendix at pages A-1.

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. What is the appropriate standard of review;

2. Does Washington law on loss of chance, of either survival or

of a better outcome, recognize the loss of chance itself as the injury, rather

than the death or diminished outcome;

3. If issue one above is determined in the affirmative, where the

chance of survival or of a better outcome exceeds 50 percent, does loss of

chance remain as a viable claim, or is loss of chance discarded and replaced

by traditional but for causation of death or of diminished outcome;

4. Does this court's holding in Volk v. DeMeerler, 184 Wn. App.

389,429, 337 P.3d 372 (2014^, state that there is no claim for loss of chance

where the injury is caused by medical negligence, or does it state that there is
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no loss of chance claim where it is claimed that the medieal negligence was

fully (100 percent) causal of the death or the unfavorable outcome;

5. Whether the Division III Court of Appeals opinion in this

matter, below, is in conflict with one or more decisions of the Supreme

Court; and,

6. Whether this petition involves an issue of substantial public

interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a medical malpractice, wrongful death, and loss of

chance of survival ease. Amanda and Paul Pitts (the Pitts) contend

negligence by Inland in misinterpreting and misreporting on ultrasound

imaging of the Pitts' twin pregnaneyproximately caused the in-utero demise

of Taylor Pitts, while her identical twin sister, Samantha, survived. (CP 1-3).

Alternatively, the Pitts' elaimed the alleged negligence of Inland caused a

loss of chance of Taylor's survival. (CP 584-585)

At issue was whether Inland breaehed the standard of eare when it

misdiagnosed the chorionicity and amnionicity of the Pitts' twin pregnancy.

(CP 5-8). Twins occur when two separate eggs are fertilized, or one fertilized

egg splits into two. (RP filed 11/3/14, hearing 2/10/14, p.197-198). A

dichorionic/dianmiotic twin pregnancy usually occurs from two separately

fertilized eggs (dizygotic), resulting in non-identical twins. (CP 280) A
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dichorionic/diamniotictwin pregnancy can also occur from early splitting of

a single fertilized egg (monozygotic), resulting in identical twins. (GP280)

In a dichorionic pregnancy, each fetus is contained within a separate sac

(chorion) and is nourished by a separate placenta. (CP 280) The. next

higher risk type of twin pregnancy is a monochorionic/ diamniotic twin

pregnancy. (CP 281). This is a monozygotic twin pregnancy where a single

fertilized egg splits at a later time than one causing a dichorionic identical

twin pregnancy. (CP 281) The twin fetuses are contained within one sac

separated by a thin membrane dividing the sac into two compartments

(amnions). The risk is higher because the twins share a single placenta, and

are separated only by a thin amniotic membrane rather than a thicker, multi-

layered dichorionic/diamniotic membrane. (CP 281). See trial exhibit P-20

graph on next page.

One risk is twin to twin transfusion syndrome, where twin fetuses

share a single placenta, and where one twin draws more blood flow than the

other. This takes needed blood flow and nutrients away from the other twin.

(CP 281) Another risk is unequal physical sharing of the single placenta,

and, therefore, the nourishment provided by the placenta. There is also

increased risk of "intrauterine growth restriction" (lUGR) where fetal size or

growth is restricted due to abnormal placental health. Finally, there is also

risk of disruption or tearing of the amniotic membrane between the twins,
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effectively causing the monochorionic/diamniotic twin pregnancy to become

a monochorionic/monoamniotic twin pregnancy (discussed below). Such risks

cause various complications which affect the development of one or both

fetuses, and some of which may result in the demise (death) of one or both

fetuses, if left untreated or unmanaged. A disruption or tear can result

from invasive procedures, such as an amniocentesis procedure, or

spontaneously, due to unknown causes. (CP 280-282)

m
w

/

is.

Dtchorionfc Dlamniotic Dichorionic Dtamniotic (Fused)

1«SJ

Monochorionic Diamniotic

Trial Exhibit P-20

Monochorionic Monoamniotic
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The Pitts contend Inland breached the standard of care because its radiologists

misdiagnosed the Pitts' twin pregnancy as dichorionic/ diamniotic when

in fact it was monochorionic/diamniotic according to the post delivery

pathology report. (RP filed 11/3/14, hearing 2/10/14, p. 256-261). This is

supported by the Pitts' OB/GYN Dr. Hardy, who delivered the Pitts twins,

Satnanttia live, and Taylor stillborn. Dr. Hardy reported Taylor to be

covered by a membrane, and apparently succumbing to umbilical cord

entanglement with Samantha's cord, indicating that the diamniotic twin

pregnancy suffered from a disruption of the amnion, rendering it to

ftmctionally become a monochorionic pregnancy. (Trial Exhibit D-104).

Prior to trial. Inland Imaging moved for partial summary judgment

to dismiss any loss of chance claim(s). (CP 133) There was sufficient

medical testimony to establish up to a 90% chance of Taylor Pitts survival

had Inland's alleged negligence not occurred, by correctly identifying the

nature of the pregnancy by ultrasound, and reporting same to the attending

physician. (CP 584-85)

The trial court held that, per Estate ofDormaier v. Columbia Basin

Anesthesia, PLLC, 177Wn. App. 828,313 P.3d 431 (2013), there can be no

loss of chance claim where the chance of survival exceeds 50%, and

dismissed the Pitts' loss of chance claim, (CP 584-585).

"Pitts presented the testimony of Dr. Patten on this issue at paragraphs 17
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and 19 of his declaration filed December 27, 2013. In paragraph 17
Dr. Patten said if negUgence did not occur there was a 90% chance
of survival of both twins in the general literature in this area. A
reasonable reading of paragraph 19 indicates these twins would have a
90% chance of survival if Dr. Hardy, the treating physician, had been
properly advised of the twins' circumstances. As this percentage
exceeds 50% it does not support giving the lost chance of survival
instruction to a jury. Inland's Motion for Summary Judgment is
granted."

(Court's Letter Ruling January 8, 2014, CP 585)

The case was tried in Spokane County Superior Court from

February 4, 2014 through February 20, 2014. On February 20, 2014, the

jury returned a defense verdict and judgment was entered on March 14,2014.

Pitts' motion for a new trial was denied on April 25, 2014. (CP 1590-1592).

This appeal followed.

On Appeal, the Division HI Court of Appeals Held:

"This court considered the loss of a chance doctrine at some

length in Dormaier, a case where an embolism brought about a fatal
heart attack during surgery to repair a fractured elbow. 177 Wn. App.
at 837-838. There we recognized that loss of a chance is not a separate
cause of action within the statutory framework of a medical
malpractice wrongful death claim. Id. at 855. We also recognized that
lost chance "is fundamentally an alternative manner of proving
wrongful death causation, available solely where the defendant's
negligence reduced the decedent's chance of survival by less than
or equal to 50 percent." Id. at 854-855 (emphasis added). Put in
other terms, Dormaier recognized that a lost chance claim onlv

applies when the plaintiff alreadv has no more than a 50 percent

chance of having a successful recoverv or survival from the

underlving problem. If there is a greater than 50 percent chance,

traditional tort causation principles applv and the nepligence. if

proven, is the cause of iniurv. If the chance of a successful outcome
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from the medical condition is no better than 50 percent, then the
question presented is whether the medical negligence somehow
reduced that opportunity even more. In those circumstances, the
alternative causation approach is used.

With these principles in mind, it is clear that the lost chance
claim in this case fails for two reasons. First, appellants based
their lost chance of survival claim on the alleged negligence of
Inland. The Washington Supreme Court's decision in Volk v.
Demeerleer, 187 Wn.2d 241, 279, 386 P.3d 254 (2016),
authoritatively rejected that approach. There is no lost chance
claim when the injury is caused by medical negligence. In Volk,
the plaintiff (personal representative of the deceased), as here,
argued that professional negligence both (1) caused the loss of
plaintiffs life and (2) reduced the chance of plaintiffs survival.
Plaintiff contended that the lost chance doctrine applied both to the
lost opportunity to survive and as a substitute for actual "but for"
causation. Id. at 278-279. The court disagreed:

This argument fails under either approach because the loss
of a chance doctrine is inapplicable if the plaintiff is
alleging that the defendant's negligence actually caused the
unfavorable outcome—^the tortfeasors would then be

responsible for the actual outcome, not for the lost chance.
Id. at 279.

For that same reason, the Pitts' claim fails here."

Pitts V. Inland Imaging, L.L.C., No. 32512-1-in, 2017 Wash. App.
LEXIS 1045, at 8 (Ct. App. May 4, 2017)

V. ARGUMENT

A. The Standard of Review of Summary .Judgment is De Novo

In Hanson Indus., Inc. v. Kutschkau. 158 Wn. App. 278, 239

P.3d367; rev. den. 171 Wn.2d 1011,249P.3d 1028 (2011), the Court stated:

"An order of summary judgment is reviewed de novo. This court
engages in the same inquiry as the trial court and views the facts in
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the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. Berrocal v.
Fernandez, 155 Wn.2d 585, 590,121 P.3d 82 (2005).

Questions of law and questions of statutory interpretation are
reviewed de novo."

Enter. Leasing. Inc. v. City ofTacoma, Fin. Dep't, 139 Wn.2d 546,
551-52, 988P .2d61 (1999).

In Washington. Loss of Chance is an Actionable Claim for Tnjiiry.,
and Separate from a Claim for the Ultimate Phvsical Harm of Death or

Diminished Outcome.

Washington first recognized a claim for loss of a chance in

Herskovits v. Group Health Coop., 99 Wn.2d 609, 664 P.2d 474 (1983),

where six justices concluded the plaintiff had established a prima facie case

based upon a decrease in the statistical chance of survival. Herskovits

involved a wrongful death and survival action based on a healthcare

provider's failure to diagnose and treat. Id. at p. 611. The plaintiffs claimed

the decedent incurred a loss of chance of survival. Id. at p. 612. The

defendants moved for summary judgment, and the plaintiff responded with

evidence that the alleged negligence left the decedent with a decreased five

year survival probability. Id. at p. 610-11. There was no dispute the

decedent's five year survivability never exceeded 50%. Id. The trial court

granted summary judgment and the plaintiffs appealed. Id. The Supreme

Court reversed and remanded the matter for trial.
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The lead opinion by Justice Dore (represented two justices) and the

concurring opinion by Justice Pearson (representing four justices) agreed that

negligent healthcare providers could be at risk if they cause a loss of chance.

Justice Dore, in his lead opinion, clearly acknowledged and approved of

loss of chance claims applied to a greater than 50% chance of survival,

on a theory based in causation of the ultimate harm of death. He then

extended that theory to allow for loss of chance claims in the instant

Herskovits case, where the chance of survival was less than 50%:

"The ultimate question raised here is whether the relationship
between the increased risk of harm and Herskovits' death is sufficient

to hold Group Health responsible. Is a 36 percent (from 39 percent to
25 percent) reduction in the decedent's chance for survival sufficient
evidence of causation to allow the jury to consider the possibility that
the physician's failure to timely diagnose the illness was the
proximate cause of his death? We answer in the affirmative. To
decide otherwise would be a blanket release from liability for doctors
and hospitals any time there was less than a 50 percent chance of
survival, regardless of how flagrant the negligence.

We are persuaded by the reasoning of the Pennsylvania Supreme
Court in Hamil v. Bashline, supra. While Hamil involved an
original survival chance of greater than 50 percent, we find the
rationale used by the Hamil court to apply equally to cases such
as the present one, where the original survival chance is less than
50 percent. The plaintiffs decedent was suffering from severe chest
pains. His wife transported him to the hospital where he was
negligently treated in the emergency unit. The wife, because of the
lack of help, took her husband to a private physician's office, where
he died. In an action brought under the wrongful death and
survivorship statutes, the main medical witness testified that if the
hospital had employed proper treatment, the decedent would have had

-9-



a substantial chance of surviving the attack. The medical expert
expressed his opinion in terms of a 75 percent chance of survival.
It was also the doctor's opinion that the substantial loss of a
chance of recovery was the result of the defendant hospital's
failure to provide prompt treatment. The defendant's expert
witness testified that the patient would have died regardless of any
treatment provided by the defendant hospital.

VasHamil court distinguished the facts of that case from the general
tort case in which a plaintiff alleges that a defendant's act or omission
set in motion a force which resulted in harm. In the typical tort case,
the "but for" test, requiring proof that damages or death probably
would not have occurred "but for" the negligent eonduct of the
defendant, is appropriate. InHamil mA the instant case, however, the
defendant's act or omission failed in a duty to protect against harm
from another source. Thus, as the Hamil court noted, the faet finder is
put in the position of having to consider not only what did occur, but
also what might have occurred. Hamil states at page 271:

Such cases by their very nature elude the degree of certainty
one would prefer and upon which the law normally insists
before a person may be held liable. Nevertheless, in order that
an actor is not completely insulated because of uncertainties
as to the consequences of his negligent conduct. Section
323(a) tacitly acknowledges this diffieulty and permits the
issue to go to the jury upon a less than normal threshold of
proof.

(Footnote omitted.)

Th& Hamil court held that once a plaintiff has demonstrated that
the defendant's acts or omissions have increased the risk of harm

to another, sueh evidence furnishes a basis for the jury to make a
determination as to whether such increased risk was in turn a

substantial factor in bringing about the resultant harm."

Herskovits v. Grp. Health Coop., 99 Wn.2d 609, 614-16, 664 P.2d
474, 416-11 (1983) (emphasis added)

Justice Pearson, writing for the plurality, also approved of a loss of

chance claim where the ehance of survival was greater than 50%, and also
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applied to Herskovits' less than 50% ehance of survival. Justiee Pearson

does this by stating and/or eoncurring in statements that loss of chance cases

should not be "all or nothing eases." Both the ease of all and the case of

nothing is found to be objectionable. Where a practitioner interferes with a

loss of chance of survival of 75%, he or she must pay 100% of the damages,

but pay nothing where the chance of survival is 50% or less. In short, loss of

chance damages should be proportional to the ehance lost:

"Having concluded this somewhat detailed survey of the cases cited
by plaintiff, what conclusions can we draw? First, the critical element
in each of the cases is that the defendant's negligence either deprived
a decedent of a ehance of surviving a potentially fatal condition or
reduced that chance. To summarize, in Hicks v. United States the
decedent was deprived of a probability of survival; in Jeanes v.
Milner the decedent's chance of survival was reduced from 35 percent
to 24 percent; in O'Brien v. Stover, the decedent's 30 percent chance
of survival was reduced by an indeterminate amount; in McBride v.
United States the decedent was deprived of the probability of
survival; in Kallenberg v. Beth Israel Hasp, the decedent was
deprived of a 20 percent to 40 percent chance of survival; mHamil v.
Bashline the decedent was deprived of a 75 percent chance of
survival; and in James v. United States the decedent was deprived of
an indeterminate chance of survival, no matter how small.

The three cases where the ehance of survival was greater than 50
percent (Hides, McBride, and Hamil) are unexceptional in that they
focus on the death of the decedent as the injury, and they require
proximate cause to be shown beyond the balance of probabilities.
Such a result is consistent with existing principles in this state, and
with cases from other jurisdictions cited by defendant.

The remaining four cases allowed recovery despite the plaintiffs'
failure to prove a probability of survival. Three of these cases
(Jeanes, O'Brien, and James) differ significantly from the TT/cfo,
McBride, and Hamil group in that they view the reduction in or
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loss of the chance of survival, rather than the death itself, as the

injury. Under these cases, the defendant is liable, not for all

damages arising from the death, but onlv for damages to the

extent of the diminished or lost chance of survival. The fourth of

these eases, Kallenberg, differs from the other three in that it foeuses
on the death as the compensable injury. This is clearlv a distortion
of traditional principles of proximate causation. In effect.

Kallenbers held that a 40 percent possibility of causation (rather

than the 51 percent required bv a probability standard) was

sufficient to establish liability for the death. Under this loosened

standard of proof of eausation, the defendant would be liable for all
damages resulting from the death for which he was at most 40 percent
responsible.

My review of these cases persuades me that the preferable
approach to the problem before us is that taken (at least
implicitly) in Jeanes, O 'Brien, and James. I acknowledge that the
principal predicate for these cases is the passage of obiter dictum
in Hicks, a case which more directly supports the defendant's
position. I am nevertheless convinced that these cases reflect a

trend to the most rational, least arbitrary, rule bv which to

regulate cases of this kind. I am persuaded to this conclusion not

so much bv the reasoning of these cases themselves, but bv the

thoughtful discussion of a recent commentator. Kinv. Causatinn.

Valuation, and Chance in Personal Injury Torts Involving
Preexisting Conditions and Future Consequences, 90 Yale L.J.
1353 (1981).

King's basic thesis is explained in the following passage, which is
particularly pertinent to the case before us.

Causation has for the most part been treated as an all-or-nothing
proposition. Either a loss was caused by the defendant or it was
not.... A plaintiff ordinarily should be required to prove by the
applicable standard of proof that the defendant caused the loss in
question. What caused a loss, however, should be a separate
question from what the nature and extent of the loss are. This

distinction seems to have eluded the courts, with the result that lost
chances in many respects are compensated either as certainties or not
at all.

Under the all or nothing approach, typified by Cooper v. Sisters of
Charity, Inc., 27 Ohio St. 2d 242, 272 N.E.2d 97 (1971), a plaintiff
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who establishes that but for the defendant's negligence the decedent
had a 51 percent chance of survival may maintain an action for that
death. The defendant will be liable for all damages arising from
the death, even thongh there was a 49 percent chance it would
have occurred despite his negligence. On the other hand, a
plaintiff who establishes that but for the defendant's negligence
the decedent had a 49 percent chance of survival recovers
nothing.

This all or nothing approach to recovery is criticized by King on
several grounds, 90 Yale L.J. at 1376-78. First, the all or nothing
approach is arbitrary. Second, it subverts the deterrence
objectives of tort law by denying recovery for the effects of
conduct that causes statistically demonstrable losses.... A failure
to allocate the cost of these losses to their tortious sources . ..

strikes at the integritv of the torts svstem of loss allocation."

90 Yale L.J. at 1377.

"Therefore, I would hold that plaintiff has established a prima
facie issue of proximate cause by producing testimony that
defendant probably caused a substantial reduction in Mr.
Herskovits' chance of survival."

Herskovits, 99 Wn.2d at 634 (emphasis added)

C. It Follows That the Iniurv of Loss of a Chance is an Actionable

Claim, Regardless of Whether the Chance of Survival or of a Better

Outcome Exceeds 50%.

In 2011, the Washington Supreme Court adopted Justice Pearson's

plurality opinion in Herskovits, supra., and extended loss of chance beyond

survival, and applied it to ultimate harm short of death (loss of chance of a

better outcome:

"We hold that Herskovits applies to lost chance claims where the
ultimate harm is some serious injury short of death. We also formally
adopt the reasoning of a. Herskovits plurality. Under this formulation,
a plaintiff bears the burden to prove duty, breach, and that such
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breach of duty proximately caused a loss of chance of a better
outcome. This reasoning of the Herskovits plurality has largely
withstood many of the concerns about the doctrine, particularly
because it does not prescribe the specific manner ofproving causation
in lost chance cases. Rather, it relies on established tort theories of
causation, without applying a particular causation test to all lost
chance cases. Instead, the loss of a chance is the compensable
injury."

Mohr V. Grantham, 172 Wn.2d 844, 857, 262 P.3d 490 (2011).
(emphasis added)

Mohr also adopted \h.Q Herskovits plurality proportional damages approach.

"Treating the loss of a chanee as the cognizable injury permits
plaintiffs to recover for the loss of an opportunity for a better
outcome, an interest that we agree should be compensable, while
providing for the proper valuation of such an interest. Lord v.
Lovett, 146 N.H. 232, 236, 770 A.2d 1103 (2001)..."

Mohr, Id., 172 Wn.2d at 858. (emphasis added)

Mohr, itself involved a claim of loss of chance that exceeded 50%:

"Mrs. Mohr and her husband filed suit, claiming that Mhs. Mohr
received negligent treatment, far below the recognized standard of
care. They argue that the doctors' negligence substantially diminished
her chance of recovery and that, with nonnegligent care, her disability
could have been lessened or altogether avoided. The Mohrs' claim
relies, at least in part, on a medical malpractice cause of action for the
loss of a chance. In support of their claim, the Mohrs presented the

' family's testimony, including her two sons who are doctors, and the
testimony of two other doctors, Kyra Becker and A. Basil Harris. The
testimony included expert opinions that the treatment Mrs. Mohr
received violated standards of care and that, had Mrs. Mohr
received non-negligent treatment at various points between
August 31 and September 1,2004, she would have had a 50 to 60
percent chance of a better outcome. The better outcome would have

been no disability or, at least, significantly less disability."

Mohr V. Grantham, 172 Wn.2d 844, 849, 262 P.3d 490.
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The court's reliance on v. Lovgtf demonstrates that percentage

or range of percentage evidence as to the degree of the lost chance is

actually unnecessary. In that case, there was no opinion eyidence as

to the percentage or range of percentage reduction in the loss of a

chance. The plaintiff suffered a broken neek in an automobile aceident.

She alleged defendant's negligently misdiagnosed her spinal cord injury,

failed to immobilize her properly, failed to administer proper steroid therapy

and thereby caused her to lose the opportunity of a substantially better

reeovery. Lord v. Lovett, 146 N.H. 232, 233; 770 A.2d 1103, 1104 (2001).

Defendant intended to move for dismissal at the elose of the plaintiffs

ease. The trial court permitted the plaintiff to make a pre-trial offer of

proof. The plaintiff proffered that her expert would testify defendant's

negligenee deprived her of the opportunity for a substantially better

recovery. However, the plaintiffs expert could not quantify the degree to

which she was deprived of a better recovery by defendant's negligence.

(770 A.2d at 1104) (emphasis added). The trial eourt dismissed the

plaintiffs aetion and the Supreme Court of New Hampshire reversed.

(Id.)
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D. This Court's Volk Decision Does Not State " There is No Lost

Chance Claim When the Injury is Caused by Medical Negligence

The Division III Court misapplied Volk to this matter:

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