FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/3/2017 10:43 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 94647-7

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

AMANDA PITTS (nee/aka AMANDA COMPTON, nee/aka AMANDA CRUTCHFIELD) and PAUL PITTS, individually; and AMANDA PITTS as Personal Representative of the ESTATE OF TAYLOR PITTS, and on behalf of all statutory claimants and beneficiaries,

v.

Petitioners,

INLAND IMAGING, L.L.C., a Washington business entity and healthcare provider, INLAND IMAGING ASSOCIATES, P.S., a Washington business entity,

Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Under RAP 13.4(b), this Court will accept a petition for review only:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or

- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

In their Petition, the Pitts seek review only under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4). Because the Court of Appeals' decision is not in conflict with any decision of this Court and does not involve an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court, the Pitts' Petition should be denied.

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision Is Not in Conflict With Any Decision of This Court, but Rather is Consistent with This Court's and the Court of Appeals' "Loss of Chance" Decisions.

The Pitts contend, *Pet. at 13-15, 17*, that the Court of Appeals' decision in this case conflicts with this Court's decisions in *Herskovits v. Group Health Coop.*, 99 Wn.2d 609, 664 P.2d 474 (1983) and *Mohr v. Grantham*, 172 Wn.2d 844, 262 P.3d 490 (2011), which they claim allow for a loss of chance claim where the chance of survival or a better outcome exceeds 50 percent. But neither *Herskovits* nor *Mohr* so holds. Contrary to the Pitts' contentions, both this Court and the Court of Appeals have consistently recognized that the loss of chance doctrine only applies in cases where, even if the defendant had provided non-negligent care, the patient's chance of survival or better outcome was no better than 50 percent. *E.g., Herskovits*, 99 Wn.2d at 633-35 (Pearson, J., concurring);

accord Mohr, 172 Wn.2d at 857 (adopting Justice Pearson's plurality opinion in Herskovits); Dormaier, 177 Wn. App. at 849-51; Rash v. Providence Health & Servs., 183 Wn. App. 612, 630-31, 334 P.3d 1154 (2014), rev. denied, 182 Wn.2d 1028 (2015).

Indeed, it was only because the patient had less than a 50 percent chance of surviving his lung cancer prior to the allegedly negligent failure to diagnose the cancer that the plurality in *Herskovits* found it necessary to "recognize the *loss of a less than even chance* as an actionable injury." *Herskovits*, 99 Wn.2d at 634 (emphasis supplied). As the *Herskovits* plurality noted in reviewing cases from other jurisdictions, the "cases where the chance of survival was greater than 50 percent ... are unexceptional in that they focus on the death of the decedent as the injury, and they require proximate cause to be shown beyond the balance of probabilities" under traditional tort principles. *Herskovits*, 99 Wn.2d at 631. The problem confronting the *Herskovits* court was what to do in cases where the defendant's negligence allegedly decreased a patient's chance of survival, but that chance of survival was no better than 50 percent to begin with.

Because the only expert testimony the Pitts presented concerning Taylor's chance of survival was that she had at least a 90 percent chance of survival with non-negligent diagnosis and treatment, and therefore would more likely than not have survived but for the Inland Imaging radiologists'

alleged negligence, the Pitts presented a traditional theory of medical malpractice and the Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the summary judgment dismissal of their loss of chance claim.

In a lost chance of survival or lost chance of better outcome claim, where the plaintiff proves that the defendant's negligence proximately caused a reduction or loss of a less-than-even (or not-better-than-even) chance of survival or of a better outcome, that reduction or loss is the injury, and "the defendant is liable, not for all damages arising from the death" or the worse-than-expected outcome, "but only for damages to the extent of the diminished or lost chance." *Herskovits*, 99 Wn.2d at 632 (Pearson, J., concurring in plurality opinion); *Mohr*, 172 Wn.2d at 857; *Rash*, 183 Wn. App. at 630-31. "[B]ut where the defendant's negligence reduced the decedent's chance of survival by greater than 50 percent, as a matter of law, the death remains the injury and the plaintiff receives all-ornothing recovery under traditional tort principles." *Dormaier*, 177 Wn. App. at 851, 869 ("the lost chance doctrine is alternative to and provides different relief from traditional tort principles").

As the court in *Rash*, 183 Wn. App. at 630-31, explained:

In a lost chance of survival claim, the patient died from a preexisting condition and would likely have died from the condition, even without the negligence of the health care provider. Nevertheless, the negligence reduced the patient's chances of surviving the condition. *Herskovits*, 99 Wn. 2d

609. ... We distinguish between a lost chance of survival theory and a traditional medical malpractice theory. In the latter, but for the negligence of the health care provider, the patient would likely have survived the preexisting condition. In other words, the patient had a more than 50 percent chance of survival if the condition had been timely detected and properly treated. In a lost chance claim, the patient would likely have died anyway even upon prompt detection and treatment of the disease, but the chance of survival was reduced by a percentage of 50 percent or below.

Similarly, in a loss of chance of a better outcome claim, "the bad result was likely even without the health care provider's negligence. But the malpractice reduced the chances of a better outcome by a percentage of 50 percent or below." *Id.* at 631.

And, as the Court of Appeals explained in *Dormaier*, 177 Wn. App. at 851: "[A] plaintiff may not argue the lost chance doctrine where the defendant's negligence reduced the decedent's chance of survival by greater than 50 percent." If, however, a plaintiff presents expert testimony establishing that a defendant's negligence reduced the chance of survival or a better outcome by a range of percentages that includes 50 percent or less and greater than 50 percent, the plaintiff may present in the alternative both a lost chance of survival and a traditional wrongful death claim to the jury. *Id.* at 853.

The Pitts argue, *Pet. at 17*, that the Court of Appeals' opinion in *Dormaier*, like the Court of Appeals' decision in this case, conflicts with

Herskovits and Mohr by holding that loss of chance theory does not apply to cases where the expert testimony establishes that the chance of survival or a better outcome exceeded 50 percent. Contrary to the Pitts' assertion, Dormaier accurately described the Herskovits plurality's choice to limit "the lost chance doctrine to cases where the defendant's negligence reduced the decedent's chance of survival by less than or equal to 50 percent." Dormaier, 177 Wn. App. at 848 (citing Herskovits, 99 Wn.2d at 622-24, 633-34). The *Dormaier* court also specifically recognized that this Court in Mohr reversed a summary judgment dismissal of a lost chance claim where expert testimony showed that the patient would have had a 50 to 60 percent chance of a better outcome with non-negligent care. 177 Wn. App. at 845 (citing Mohr, 172 Wn.2d at 849, 859-60). The Dormaier court observed that "[c]ontext indicates that the court did not expand the lost chance doctrine to losses greater than 50 percent." Id. at 849. Instead, because the range included 50 percent, the testimony constituted *prima facie* evidence under the lost chance doctrine. *Id.* at 849-50.

Finally, the Pitts contend that the Court of Appeals misapplied this Court's holding in *Volk*, *Pet. at 16-17*, and that *Volk* "is fully off point" because the Pitts claimed a loss of a 90 percent chance of survival "in the alternative to 100% loss of chance/full liability," *Pet. at 18*, The Pitts' contentions are incorrect.

This Court, citing *Mohr*, the plurality in *Herskovits*, and *Rash*, acknowledged in *Volk*, 187 Wn.2d at 278-79, that "the loss of chance can be a compensable injury in a medical malpractice action." But, if a plaintiff alleges that an "entire chance for survival" was lost, "the tortfeasors would then be responsible for the actual outcome, not for the lost chance," and "the loss of a chance doctrine is inapplicable." *Id.* at 279. In other words, because the plaintiff in *Volk* alleged that the death would not have occurred but for the negligence of the health care provider, her claim was indistinguishable from a traditional medical negligence claim and could not properly rely on the lost chance theory. *Id.*; *Rash*, 183 Wn. App. at 630-31.

The Court of Appeals properly followed *Volk* in this case because, like the plaintiff in *Volk*, the Pitts did not allege that negligence caused a loss or reduction of a less-than-even (or no-better-than-even) chance of survival. Instead, the Pitts presented expert testimony that, but for Inland Imaging's alleged negligence, Taylor had a 90 percent chance of survival. Thus, they claimed that Inland Imaging's alleged negligence caused the loss of the entire 90 percent chance – that more likely that not Taylor would have survived the existing condition but for Inland Imaging's alleged negligence. As explained in *Rash*, that is a traditional medical malpractice claim in which "the patient had a more than 50 percent chance

of survival if the condition had been timely detected and properly treated." *Rash*, 183 Wn. App. at 630.

Like the claim at issue in *Volk*, the Pitts' claim was indistinguishable from a traditional medical malpractice claim because they alleged that Inland Imaging's alleged negligence proximately caused Taylor's loss of her entire 90 percent chance of survival, meaning she more likely than not would have survived in the absence of the alleged negligence. Thus, the loss of chance doctrine did not apply and the Pitts were properly required to prove their case according to traditional medical malpractice principles. *Volk*, 187 Wn.2d at 279; *Rash*, 183 Wn. App. at 630.

Contrary to the Pitts' assertions, the Court of Appeals' decision is not in conflict with this Court's decisions in *Herskovits*, *Mohr*, or *Volk*. Review is therefore not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

B. The Court of Appeals' Decision Does Not Involve an Issue of Substantial Public Interest that Should Be Determined by This Court.

The Pitts argue, *Pet. at 19*, that the Court of Appeals' construction of the law of loss of chance in this case "underscores the substantial public interest to be served by precise clarification of the law, generally, and with potential plaintiff, defendants, and their attorneys in mind," as to whether the loss of chance theory is available when a plaintiff asserts that a health care provider's negligence caused the patient to lose a greater than 50

percent chance of survival or a better outcome. But, the decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals have already clarified that the loss of chance doctrine does not apply, rather traditional tort principles apply, to cases where the plaintiff claims that the patient lost a greater than 50 percent chance of surviving or obtaining a better outcome from a preexisting condition as a result of the defendant health care provider's alleged negligence.

The loss of chance doctrine only comes into play in cases where there is expert testimony that the alleged negligence proximately caused the loss or reduction of a less-than-even (or not-better-than-even) chance of surviving or obtaining a better outcome from a preexisting condition that would likely have caused the death or unfavorable outcome regardless of the care provided. *Herskovits*, 99 Wn.2d at 634; *Mohr*, 172 Wn.2d at 857 (adopting reasoning of *Herskovits* plurality); *Rash*, 183 Wn. App. at 630-31; *Dormaier*, 177 Wn. App. at 851; *Volk*, 187 Wn.2d at 278-79. The fact that the Pitts disagree with those decisions does not raise an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court so as to warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

VI. CONCLUSION

Contrary to the Pitts' assertions, the Court of Appeals' decision is not in conflict with any decision of this Court, nor does it involve an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. Because none of the RAP 13.4(b) criteria for discretionary review are present, the Petition for Review should be denied.